1952

R. J. Daum Construction Company v. Thomas B. Child and C. W. Child : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal from a judgment entered December 5, 1951 dismissing the action upon the motion of the defendants (Record p. 60). For convenience the parties will be referred to as they appeared in the court below.

The motion to dismiss was made at a pre-trial hearing called by the Judge to whom the case had been assigned for trial by jury. No jury was called or empaneled. No Findings of Fact were made or signed by the Judge or waived by the plaintiff, nor was any opinion rendered by the Judge.

THE PLEADINGS

The Complaint (Record pp. 1-2) alleged that the defendants had made an offer to the plaintiff to furnish all labor and materials necessary for the completion of the brickwork on firewalls at the Utah General Depot, Ogden, Utah, according to plans and specifications for the total of \$91,392.00. That relying upon that bid the plaintiff submitted a bid to the Government to do the entire work specified in the plans for a flat sum and was awarded the contract upon that bid. That the plaintiff accepted the defendants' offer, that the defendants repudiated the contract and refused to perform and that plaintiff was required to do the work which defendants had offered to do on its own account at a cost to it in excess of \$79,000 over defendants' bid.

The Answer of the defendants (Record pp. 3-5) admitted the offer, but denied that the plaintiff's bid to the Government was made in reliance thereon and denied that plaintiff had accepted it. They alleged that the plaintiff tendered to defendants a form of contract which varied from their bid in material respects. The Answer also denied the damage claimed.

PROCEEDINGS

At the instance of the defendants, the deposition of R. C. Riding, the superintendent of the plaintiff and the individual by whom all negotiations on behalf of the plaintiff in connection with the contract were carried on, was taken January 20, 1951. On the same date the deposition of Mr. Thomas B. Child, one of the defendant

partners and the individual by whom all negotiations on behalf of the defendants were carried on, was taken at plaintiff's instance. (These depositions are incorporated in the Record as a separate document of 118 pages and given Record page numbers beginning at page 102.)

Thereafter the case was assigned for trial without a jury upon demand of the plaintiff and was later transferred to the jury calendar on motion of the defendants (Record pp. 6-10). It was assigned to Judge Lewis of the District Court for trial during September, 1951. Judge Lewis called the case for pre-trial, and after pretrial conference he entered an order in which the parties were directed to file a written stipulation (of facts) before September 14th (Record pp. 11-12).

No stipulation was entered into by the parties until September 29, 1951 when the stipulation found at pages 14 to 29 of the Record was signed by counsel for both parties and submitted to Judge Lewis. This stipulation was used as a basis for the facts agreed upon by counsel at the subsequent pretrial before Judge Ellett (Record pp. 30-55). Those agreed facts as well as those upon which no agreement was reached will be stated below.

Meanwhile the case had been transferred to Judge Ellett, who called a pretrial conference on October 16th. At this conference *counsel for defendants refused to agree that the evidence as recorded in the depositions and stipulation might be considered and weighed by the court for the purpose of determining as a matter of law whether a contract had or had not been entered into by the parties* (Record pp. 31-34) In addition, the plaintiff

withheld its consent that the judge might *weigh* the evidence and decide the case as a trier of the facts (Record pp. 52-3). Trial by jury was not waived by either side.

At the close of the pretrial conference the plaintiff moved for an order holding the case for trial on the question of damages, the defendants moved to dismiss and the court set a date for argument (Record pp. 52-53). The arguments were heard October 20th and the court took the motions under advisement (Record p. 58). On October 26th, according to the entry in the register and the entries on the page prepared for the minutes of the court (Record p. 59) which on November 28th were still unsigned and bore no record of having been seen or approved by the Judge, he decided the motions (Record p. 61), denying the motion of the plaintiff and granting the motion to dismiss. On December 5, 1951, a formal order dismissing the action was signed by the Judge and entered by the clerk (Record p. 60).

THE EVIDENCE

The facts, both conceded and disputed, before the court at the time of the motions are as follows:

The Government issued an Invitation to contractors to submit bids for the construction of firewalls in certain buildings located at the Ogden General Depot, Ogden, according to plans and specifications which had been prepared therefor (Stipulation, Record pp. 15, 35). The specifications called for the erection of twelve brick walls in four different buildings and the installation of *rolling* steel firedoors in each wall and for an alternate bid for

the work in case the Government should decide to install the firedoors later and brick in the doorways in the meanwhile (See Exhibit A, including Invitation for Bids and Bid Form included therein). Subsequently the Government issued an Addendum to the specifications which called for an alternate bid for the construction of the walls and the installation of *sliding* steel firedoors instead of rolling doors, and the bids for the work if the doorways were bricked in (See Exhibit B, Addendum No. 1 and Bid Form included). In the Bid form accompanying Addendum No. 1 the bid for rolling doors was designated as Schedule I and the bid for sliding doors designated as Schedule II. The bids were to be opened June 22, 1950 at 2 P.M.

Section SC-1 of the Special Conditions of the Specifications referred to in the Invitation for Bids (Exhibit A) provided:

“The contractor will be required to commence work under this contract within ten (10) calendar days after date of receipt by him of written notice to proceed, to prosecute said work with faithfulness and energy, and to complete the entire work ready for use not later than one hundred twenty (120) days after the date of receipt of the said notice to proceed. The time stated for completion shall include final cleanup of the premises.”

Section SC-16 of the Special Conditions provided:

“In case of failure on the part of the contractor to complete the work within the time fixed in the contract or any extensions thereof, the con-

tractor shall pay the Government as liquidated damages the sum of Fifty (\$50) Dollars for each calendar day of delay until the work is completed or accepted."

The plaintiff, a contracting corporation, intended to submit a bid for the work and on June 20th Mr. Riding, its superintendent, called Mr. Thomas B. Child, a member of the defendant partnership long engaged in masonry and brickwork construction, and asked if they wished to submit a bid to do the brickwork on the project. Mr. Child said he would if he could see the plans and specifications, so Mr. Riding delivered and left with Mr. Child a set of the plans and specifications (Exhibit A) and discussed the proposed work with him. Mr. Riding did not give Mr. Child a copy of the Addendum No. 1 at this time or at all (Record pp. 36-38; Stipulation paragraphs 4, 5 and 6; Record p. 15).

Mr. Child telephoned to the plaintiff a proposal to do the brickwork called for on the morning of June 22nd (Record p. 37; Stipulation paragraph 7, Record p. 16), and on the following day confirmed it by letter (Record pp. 39, 43; Stipulation paragraphs 7-8; Record p. 17). Mr. Riding received the telephone bid, used the quotation in figuring the plaintiff's bid to the Government and submitted it before the time set for the opening (Record p. 41). The plaintiff was the low bidder (Record p. 17).

Shortly after the bids to the Government were opened but before the contract had been awarded, Mr. Riding told Mr. Child that the defendants' bid had been the lowest bid for the brickwork that plaintiff had received

and that he had used Child's bid in figuring plaintiff's bid. He also told Mr. Child that plaintiff's bid to the Government had been low and that when they got fixed up with the contract the defendants could expect to get a contract for the brickwork (Record p. 42, Stipulation paragraph 12, Record p. 17).

One week after the bid opening, the plaintiff was awarded the contract on the basis of the Government's acceptance of plaintiff's bid of \$190,392.00 for the entire job with the installation of *rolling* steel doors on Schedule I of plaintiff's bid (Record pp. 40-41; Stipulation paragraph 16; Record p. 19), which was the identical work specified in the plans and specifications delivered to Mr. Child as above stated (see Exhibits A and B). (Note: The reference to Schedule II on page 41 of the Record is erroneous.)

On July 3rd according to Mr. Riding (Deposition p. 20), but Mr. Child thought it was earlier (Deposition p. 98), Mr. Riding called Mr. Child and asked him if he would rather set the reinforcing steel as his work progressed or have Daum Company or some other subcontractor set it. Mr. Child told him that he would rather place it himself provided the steel was cut, bent and designed properly.

The general contract was dated June 29, 1950 (Answer, Record p. 3) and under date of July 10, 1950 the Government issued its formal notice to the plaintiff to proceed and to commence work within 10 days after receipt of the notice as provided in Sec. SC-1 of the Specifications (Exhibit A). The notice to proceed was received

by the plaintiff at Inglewood, California on July 13 (Record p. 19).

On July 11th the plaintiff mailed from its office at Inglewood, California, to the defendants at Salt Lake two copies of a form of Subcontract Agreement dated the same day and signed by the plaintiff (Exhibit C). These were on printed forms, the blanks in which had been filled in with typewriting giving the date, the names of the parties, referred to as Contractor and Subcontractor respectively, a reference to the Government Contract and referred to the portion of the work to be done by the Subcontractor (defendants) as "Brickwork." Then there was inserted the following:

"Time is of the essence of this contract. General Contract to be completed within 120 calendar days. \$50.00 per day penalty thereafter. Sub-contractor to complete its work as scheduled."

The form also included Addendum 1 as part of the specification for the work to be performed. No other of the many blanks in the printed form were filled in except the price to be paid subcontractor for his work, \$91,392.-00, in payments equal to 90% of the work done by the subcontractor during the preceding month and the balance 10% to be paid within 35 days after completion and acceptance of the project by the Government.

These Subcontract forms were transmitted to the defendants with a letter dated July 11th requesting the defendants to sign and return one to the plaintiff (Record p. 44; Stipulation paragraph 19; Record p. 21). This

letter and subcontract forms were received by the defendants on or before July 13th and before the next conversation between the plaintiff and the defendants (Depositions, Riding p. 22, Child p. 100-101), on July 14th.

Meanwhile Mr. Child had told the Interstate Brick Company that he was expecting to sign up with the plaintiff for the job and had obtained the price of brick delivered at the job. Mr. Child testified that he had not placed an order for 1,200,000 brick but had just told them (the Brick Company) that he expected to get the job (Record, Deposition Child, page 109). Mr. Riding testified, however, that after the defendants had refused to go ahead with the work Mr. Child told him that he would turn over his order for brick on the project to the plaintiff and that he had on order 1,200,000 brick for this particular project (Deposition, Riding, pp. 26-27-28).

On July 14th Mr. Riding called Mr. Child by telephone to make an appointment to have Mr. Child go to Ogden with him and meet the other subcontractors there and go over the work and get his ideas how he would like to handle his part of the work. Mr. Child agreed to ride up with Riding at 9 o'clock the next morning and said nothing about having received the subcontract forms or having any objections to its terms or provisions (Deposition, Riding p. 21). Mr. Child said that in this conversation Riding wanted him to go over the job with him and that Child then told him they had received the form of contract and had decided not to sign the job up (Deposition, Child p. 99).

The following morning, July 15th, Mr. Riding called

on Mr. Child at his home when for the first time, according to Riding, Mr. Child told him that he and his brothers had met the night before and had decided not to go through with the contract because of the conditions following the outbreak of the war in Korea, that they had been losing men and because of the insertion in the subcontract form of the words "general contract to be completed within 120 calendar days" and "\$50.00 per day penalty thereafter." It was in this conversation that Mr. Child offered to turn over to the plaintiff his order for the 1,200,000 brick he had expected to use on the job (Deposition, Riding, pp. 22-28).

Mr. Riding offered to strike from the Subcontract form the clause "\$50.00 per day penalty thereafter" but Mr. Child still refused to go ahead (Deposition, p. 23). Mr. Child denied that Riding had offered to strike anything from the Subcontract Form and his version of the conversation at this time is contained in his Deposition at pages 100-103.

There is no evidence that the defendants had withdrawn their offer until after they had received the subcontract from the plaintiff or, according to plaintiff's testimony, before the meeting of Mr. Child and Mr. Riding on the morning of July 14th after Mr. Child had agreed to go to Ogden to lay out the work.

Under date of July 25th the plaintiff wrote the defendants a letter requesting them to advise plaintiff by 5 o'clock July 29th of their willingness to proceed to carry out the terms of their proposal in default of which

the plaintiff would make other arrangements for the performance of the work and hold the defendants responsible for the damages (Record pp. 26-27). The defendants replied by letter the following day, repeating their refusal to go ahead, saying:

“In the subcontract which you submitted to us under date of July 11, 1950 you added a material variance to our proposal in that you required the work to be completed within 120 calendar days and provided for a \$50 per day penalty thereafter and which was not contemplated in our original proposal.

“The writer discussed this matter with Mr. Riding about two weeks ago when he took up the form of the subcontract you submitted and explained to Mr. Riding that we would not accept the subcontract or execute it with the changes both as to the time limit and the penalties, and the writer explained further that because of present conditions and the changes in the labor market by reason of war conditions and our loss of employees that we would not execute any subcontract with you for this work.”

The defendants never did sign any contract to do the work and never did any work on the project (Record p. 46; Record p. 26; Stipulation paragraph 24) and after receipt of the defendants' letter of July 26th the plaintiff let a subcontract to Clark Ivory to do the work for \$95,000.00 (Record p. 49, Exhibit F). This contract was later abrogated (Record p. 54) and the work was ultimately completed by the plaintiff through other subcontracts.

STATEMENT OF POINTS UPON WHICH
APPELLANT INTENDS TO RELY

POINT I.

THE FACTS WHICH WERE STIPULATED REQUIRED A FINDING AND CONCLUSION AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE OFFER OF THE DEFENDANTS HAD BEEN ACCEPTED BY THE PLAINTIFF AND THAT A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PARTIES HAD COME INTO EXISTENCE PRIOR TO THE REFUSAL OF THE DEFENDANTS TO PROCEED.

POINT II.

THE TRANSMITTAL OF THE SUBCONTRACT FORM WAS A CONFIRMATION OF THE PREVIOUS ACCEPTANCE OF THE OFFER AND THE SUBCONTRACT FORM WAS BUT THE WRITTEN MEMORIAL OF THE CONTRACT SO CREATED.

POINT III.

THE SUBCONTRACT FORM SUBMITTED TO DEFENDANTS WAS NOT A COUNTER-OFFER OR REJECTION OF DEFENDANTS' PROPOSAL.

POINT IV.

THE DEFENDANTS ARE ESTOPPED TO DENY THE EXISTENCE OF THE CONTRACT.

POINT V.

IF THE ACTS OF THE PARTIES AS STIPULATED WERE NOT CONCLUSIVE AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE INTENTION OF THE PLAINTIFF TO ACCEPT THE OFFER OF THE DEFENDANTS AND THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE ACTS AND CONDUCT OF THE PLAINTIFF TO CONVEY SUCH INTENTION TO THE DEFENDANTS WERE FOR

THE JURY, AND THE GRANTING OF DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO DISMISS WAS ERROR.

POINT VI.

THE ENTRY OF THE JUDGMENT OF DISMISSAL WITHOUT FINDINGS OR CONCLUSIONS, AND WITHOUT A MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND NOTICE THEREOF WAS ERROR.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE FACTS WHICH WERE STIPULATED REQUIRED A FINDING AND CONCLUSION AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT THE OFFER OF THE DEFENDANTS HAD BEEN ACCEPTED BY THE PLAINTIFF AND THAT A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE PARTIES HAD COME INTO EXISTENCE PRIOR TO THE REFUSAL OF THE DEFENDANTS TO PROCEED.

Thornton v. Pasch, 104 Utah 313, 139 Pac. (2d) 1002 was an action by a subcontractor against the principal contractor for breach of contract and damages. To establish the contract, the plaintiff relied upon certain acts and conduct of the defendant as evidencing his acceptance of an offer by the plaintiff to haul roofing material needed by the defendant in the performance of the general contract. The lower court had non suited the plaintiff and dismissed the complaint. On appeal this court reviewed the evidence and said:

“* * * It is clear that the instrument signed by the plaintiff was at least an offer to do the work in question in accordance with its terms but before it could become a binding contract the defendants

would have to accept the same or assent to its terms. This the defendants might have done by a written or oral statement to that effect. If the defendants had made such a statement the meaning of which was unambiguous, the interpretation thereof would have been a question of law for the court. Plaintiff does not rely on any such statement, but does rely on a series of acts and circumstances which he claims are a manifestation of defendant's assent to and acceptance of plaintiff's offer. * * *

“It is a well recognized rule of law that where a contract is not required to be in writing, mutual assent or the meeting of the minds may be proved by words spoken as well as by acts and conduct. Restatement of the Law of Contracts, Vol. 1, Chapter 3, Section 21 says ‘The manifestation of mutual assent may be made wholly or partly by written or spoken words or by other acts or conduct.’

“‘17 C.J.S. Contracts, p. 373, sec. 41a * * * an acceptance need not be express or formal, but may be shown by words, conduct, or acquiescence indicating assent to the proposal or offer.’”

In the present case, the plaintiff, by acts and conduct communicated to the defendants, had clearly and unequivocally manifested its acceptance of their bid and thereby had created a binding contract prior to the refusal by defendants to proceed with the work.

(a) Mr. Riding solicited the bid from the defendants and supplied them with the plans and specifications to enable the defendants to intelligently figure their bid. He used the defendants' figures in preparing the plain-

tiff's bid to the Government, which bid upon opening was found to be low.

Mr. Child, who evidently was following the matter closely and knew that the plaintiff was the low bidder, called Mr. Riding up to see if he, Child, had the job (Child Deposition p. 97). Mr. Riding told him that his bid was low on the brickwork, that he had used it in figuring plaintiff's bid, that plaintiff's bid was low and that he expected to get the job. Mr. Riding said further (as quoted by Mr. Child) :

“You know how things are, it takes the Government quite a while to decide what they want, but I think after we have got fixed up for it we will give you a form of contract.”

We submit that this was the equivalent of a statement by the plaintiff that it had accepted defendants' bid conditioned only upon the Government awarding plaintiff the contract on the basis of the specifications upon which the defendants had bid.

(b) The conditional acceptance of plaintiff's bid was made final upon the happenings of the condition. The Government accepted plaintiff's bid on Schedule I, that is, for the walls and installation of rolling steel fire doors. That this was the type of construction and installation upon which the defendants had bid is apparent from (1) the specifications, Exhibit A, (2) the terms of plaintiff's bid (R. p. 16) and stipulation (R. p. 40-41) and (3) the letter from the Army Engineers dated June

29, 1950 and set out in paragraph 16 of the stipulation (R. p. 19).

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