1952

R. J. Daum Construction Company v. Thomas B. Child and C. W. Child : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

We submit that any one of the above 3 mentioned changes constituted material alterations in the defendants' bid proposal and that any one of such alterations is of such a nature to make the proposed subcontract agreement as a matter of law amount to a new proposal and a rejection of the defendants' original proposal. The original proposal having been rejected by the counter-proposal, the same could not thereafter be revived unless the defendants chose to re-submit it which according to the evidence they did not.

See Restatement of the Law of Contracts, Section 60, page 66:

“A reply to an offer, though purporting to accept it, which adds qualifications or requires performance of conditions, is not an acceptance but is a counter-offer.”

See also Am. Jur. Vol. 12, page 543, Section 53:

“In order to form a contract, the offer and acceptance must express assent to one and the same thing. The acceptance of the offer must be substantially as made; there must be no variance between the acceptance and the offer. An offer imposes no obligations until accepted according to its terms, without qualification or departure.

* * * The acceptance must be unequivocal and unconditional. If a condition is affixed to the acceptance by the party to whom the offer is made or any modification of, or change in, the offer is made or requested, there is a rejection of the offer, which puts an end to the negotiations, unless the party who made the original offer renews it or assents to the modification suggested. The other party, having once rejected the offer by a conditional acceptance, cannot afterwards revive it by tendering an unconditional acceptance of it.”

See also *William E. Iselin v. United States*, 70 Law Ed. page 872 at page 874:

“It is well settled that a proposal to accept, or an acceptance upon terms varying from those offered is a rejection of the offer, and puts an end to the negotiation, unless the party who made the original offer renews it, or assents to the modification suggested.”

See also *Polhamus v. Roberts*, (New Mexico 1946), 175 Pac. (2) 196. In that case the plaintiff sent the following wire:

“Will give two year lease on premises you occupy at \$175 monthly. I am also ill and contemplate sale of the building as soon as possible. If you want lease please advise.”

The defendant forwarded the following airmail reply:

“Received your wire dated January 15, 1945, agreeing to lease me the Green Lantern for two years at \$175 per month. I accept the lease proposition but as I wrote you before I am assigning all of my lease rights to the parties to whom I sold the bar, a Mr. J. A. Terry and Mr. Rulon Moody, and they desire to have a written lease from you, and consequently I have had a lease drawn up between you and Terry and Moody leasing this property for a term of two years.

“They have signed the lease in duplicate and when you sign the same it will be complete. You can keep one copy and mail the other copy back to me for the purchasers.

“I am also enclosing check of Moody and Terry for \$175 for the first month’s rent beginning January 20, 1945.

“I am sure these parties I am selling to will keep all rental paid promptly each month and will take good care of the premises.

“If the lease is not satisfactory you can draw a new lease and send it down, but I think the lease is okey.

“Trusting I may hear from you by return mail returning the signed copy of the lease, and with best regards, I am, Etc.”

The court held that the reply though purporting to accept the terms of the offer added the condition that the written lease be made to a third person to whom the offeree was assigning his lease rights; that this constituted a departure from the terms of the offer, and was not a mere request of a favor to be complied with or not at the offeror's option, but was a condition of the acceptance and was, therefore, a counter-offer and gave rise to no contract, quoting from Restatement of Law of Contracts, Section 60, as follows:

“A reply to an offer, though purporting to accept it, which adds qualifications or requires performance of conditions, is not an acceptance but is a counter-offer.”

In *Northeastern Construction Company v. Winston-Salem*, Fourth Circuit, 83 Fed. (2) 57, the city after calling for bid proposals for sewer work eliminated about 15% of the work that had originally been projected. This was held to justify the successful bidder in withdrawing his bid and refusing to undertake the work since obviously the minds of the parties never met. It was further held that a stipulation in the specifications that a certain official was to have the right to eliminate any part of the work did not authorize such an elimination before a contract was entered into as against a bidder

dicating what or whose figure the plaintiff had used in computing the brick work portion of the job. Assuming that the plaintiff had used the defendants' figure, there was nothing to prevent the plaintiff, even after the bids had been opened and the Government had awarded its contract, from soliciting bids from other subcontractors for the brick work and giving the work to them. There is nothing in the record to show that the plaintiff in fact relied upon the defendants' bid because it could have done the work itself or had it performed by some other subcontractor. Since the plaintiff did not desire to bind itself to give a contract to the defendants in the event that the plaintiff was awarded the Government job, it cannot claim the benefit of any promissory estoppel.

Appellant relies upon the doctrine of promissory estoppel as set forth in the Restatement of the Law of Contracts in Chapter 3, Section 90, and claims that the case of *Northwestern Engineering Co. v. Ellerman*, 10 N.W. (2d) 879 is authority for the application of the doctrine in the case at bar. However, an examination of the facts in the *Northwestern Engineering* case will readily disclose that it has no similarity to the facts at issue in this case. In the *Northwestern Engineering Company* case the plaintiff and the defendant had entered into a written agreement which, among other things, recited that the plaintiff proposed to submit a bid for the construction of a certain project; that the defendant desired to subcontract a portion of the work in the event that the plaintiff submitted the lowest bid and was awarded the contract. It was further agreed

in writing that if the plaintiff was awarded the contract, that the defendant would perform a portion of the work as a subcontractor on the terms stated in the written agreement, and the plaintiff agreed to make payment to the defendant in such event. This agreement was signed by both parties. The defendant in fact submitted a bidder's bond guaranteeing its performance. In that case, therefore, the plaintiff by writing obligated the defendant and itself to a subcontract in the event the plaintiff was awarded the general contract. The plaintiff in this case could have followed that procedure and protected itself but chose not to do so, and obviously did not desire to obligate itself in any way to the defendants. The Northwestern Engineering case is, therefore, not in point.

The doctrine of promissory estoppel is one of limited application. It most generally is used in connection with charitable subscriptions but has been extended to a promise not to plead the statute of limitations or other similar defense or to enforce marriage settlements based upon a promise, but it is only in these types of cases that the doctrine applies. See Williston on Contracts, Sec. 139 commencing at page 494:

“In the United States, the decisions which have enforced promises, confessedly because of the promisee's action in reliance thereon have generally been cases of charitable subscriptions where courts, dissatisfied with the prevailing theories by which consideration is found for such agreements, but nevertheless disposed to follow the weight of American authority in sustaining

the subscriber's promise, have explained the liability on the ground of estoppel."

And again in that section :

"Promises of future action, it is generally held, if they can furnish the basis for an estoppel at all, can do so *only where they relate to an intended abandonment of an existing right*, and are made to influence others who in fact are induced thereby to act or forbear. * * *

"The law is clear that in any case where a party to a contract agrees to give up a possible further defense or foregoes the advantage of a condition provided for his benefit *in an existing contract*, the promise is binding if the promisee relying thereon changes his position. In these cases no new right is created. *The court does not maintain an action on the promise*; it reaches the desired result by allowing a defense to an action or allowing an original right to be enforced by merely prohibiting the interposition of a defense."

See also Williston on Contracts, Sec. 692 and 693, commencing at page 1997, where it is clear that the doctrine of promissory estoppel is limited to cases which recreate a liability which by its terms had been extinguished or to an obligation which by its terms has already been extinguished or made impossible of performance.

Williston on Contracts, Sec. 140 states that the rule as announced in the Restatement of the Law, Sec. 90 does not go beyond the existing law as enumerated in the aforementioned sections.

A case which in our opinion clearly shows that the doctrine of promissory estoppel does not apply is that of *James Baird Co. v. Gimbel Bros., Inc.*, Second Circuit, 64 Fed. (2) 344, decided by Judge Learned Hand. In that case the plaintiff had made a general contract for the construction of a public building. The defendant had submitted a bid to the plaintiff for the supplying of linoleum used in the building but through an error had underestimated the total yardage by about one-half of the proper amount. When it discovered its error, the defendant withdrew its offer, but the withdrawal was not received until after the plaintiff had put in its bid on a lump sum basis using the linoleum prices quoted by the defendant. The plaintiff's bid as general contractor was awarded and the defendant refused to recognize the existence of a subcontract to furnish the linoleum. The plaintiff sued the defendant. Judge Hand in that case held that there was no contract and that the doctrine of promissory estoppel did not apply. He said that the plaintiff had a ready escape from its difficulty by insisting upon a contract from the defendant before it used the defendant's figures. This would be similar to the contract used in the *Northwestern Engineering* case. In commenting upon Sec. 90 of the Restatement of the Law of Contracts relative to the doctrine of promissory estoppel the court held that the doctrine did not apply under the facts of the instant case, saying:

“In the case at bar the defendant offered to deliver the linoleum in exchange for the plaintiff's acceptance, not for its bid, which was a matter

of indifference to it. That offer could become a promise to deliver only when the equivalent was received; that is, when the plaintiff promised to take and pay for it. There is no room in such a situation for the doctrine of 'promissory estoppel.' "

The facts in the case at bar are analogous to those in the *James Baird Co. v. Gimbel Bros., Inc.* case. Obviously, when the defendants submitted their bid they were interested in obtaining a contract. They were not interested in submitting a figure to the plaintiff which the plaintiff might use in its lump sum bid, and subsequently perform the work itself or award the work to some other subcontractor. The plaintiff, on the other hand, when it took the bid was not interested in binding itself to award a subcontract to the defendants in the event that the plaintiff was awarded the job. It, therefore, is in no position to now claim that the defendants are estopped to deny the existence of a contract.

POINT V.

THE RECORD ON APPEAL IS SUFFICIENT TO SUSTAIN THE COURT'S GRANTING OF THE MOTION TO DISMISS. NO JURY ISSUES WERE PRESENT.

Both parties had entered into a stipulation and submitted the same, together with other evidence to the Court to enable the Court as a matter of law to determine whether there was a contract between the parties. At the pretrial counsel for the appellant conceded that all of the conversations bearing on the point had been reduced to deposition form and he knew of nothing then

that would change such testimony. (R. 50-51) Without repeating our previous arguments, we submit that the evidence clearly indicated that there was no contract as a matter of law.

The appellant complains that there were disputed facts from which a jury could have found that the defendants' offer had been accepted by the plaintiff. We submit that such is not the case. There was no material disagreement in the essential facts as testified to by Child and Riding in their depositions. Both agreed that all of their conversations prior to the mailing of the printed form of contract by the plaintiff to the defendants were of a preliminary nature. Riding positively testified to this effect and admitted that there had been no acceptance of the defendants' proposal in any of those conversations. There was, accordingly, no disputed issue to be submitted to the jury.

Appellant again cites the case of *Thornton v. Pasch*, 104 Utah 313, 139 Pac. (2d) 1002, which we have discussed elsewhere (*supra*, p. 24) in our brief and have shown was not in point under the facts in this case.

Appellant further contends that there was a disagreement between Riding and Child as to the date on which the conversation relative to the placing of reinforcing steel took place and that if Riding's testimony were believed an inference of acceptance might be drawn. This is not the case because regardless of the date Riding admitted that at the time of such conversation there had been no acceptance and that it was still just preliminary negotiations.

Counsel also persists in stating that there was a difference between Riding and Child as to whether the defendants had ordered brick for the job and that this should be a jury question. This has been fully covered in our brief, (*supra*, p. 23). There was no substantial difference between Riding and Child in this regard. Child testified that he did not order any brick and Riding testified that he was not certain whether Child had used the word 'order' or not.

By the clear and unmistakable statements and admissions of Riding there had been no acceptance of the defendants' proposal prior to the time that the written contract was mailed to the defendants from the plaintiff's California office, and, as we have seen in our discussion under Point IV the mailing of the subcontract form itself was a counter-proposal and a rejection of the defendants' original proposal. The lower court, therefore, properly held as a matter of law that there was no contract between the parties.

POINT VI.

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND FORMAL WRITTEN MOTION WITH NOTICE THEREOF WERE NOT REQUIRED AND IN ANY EVENT WERE WAIVED BY THE PLAINTIFF'S CONDUCT.

Appellant's counsel complains that no formal motion to dismiss under Rule 12 (c) was made and that no notice of such motion was served upon the plaintiff. This is a unique objection in view of the fact that both parties were in attendance at the pre-trial conference which was

for the very purpose of submitting sufficient facts or data to enable the Court to rule on the question as a matter of law. In fact, the parties had gone to the time and trouble to prepare a written stipulation to aid the Court in this regard. At the conclusion of the pre-trial conference the Court asked the parties if they desired to make a motion and both so indicated and dictated their respective motions into the record. The plaintiff knew what the respective motions were and, as a matter of fact, prepared a written memorandum commencing at R. 67 which was entitled, "Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss and in Support of Plaintiff's Motion to Hold the Case for Trial for Assessment of Damages." In other words, both parties at the pre-trial hearing made motions. Neither made any objection to the manner in which the motions were made. Both prepared written memorandums which were submitted to the court at the time of the argument on the motions which was several days after the motions had been made and which date was agreed upon by the attorneys for the parties. If any notice or formal written motion were required, the same had been waived.

Appellant also complains that Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were not prepared and signed by the Court. Rule 12 (b) provides for a motion to dismiss and states that if "matters outside the pleading are presented to and not excluded by the court, the motion shall be treated as one for summary judgment and disposed of as provided in Rule 56." Rule 52 specifically provides, "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law

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